
SORTA/Metro
Board Meeting

November 14, 2023 
9:00 am-10:00 am Eastern Time 

SORTA BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 14TH, 2023 – 9:00 A.M
SORTA BOARD ROOM 6th FLOOR
525 VINE STREET, 
CINCINNATI, OHIO, 45202 
General Items:
Call to order  
Pledge of Allegiance
Hearings from citizens 
Chairman Update 
Action Items:  

1  Approval of Board Minutes: October 24th, 2023
Finance Committee (Sonja Taylor) 
Action Items: 

2  Investment of Funds Reports (Andy Aiello)
3

 
Proposed Resolution No: 2023-59: Approval of Revised 2023 Property & 
General Liability Insurance Coverages 

3.1  Action Item:

4
 
Proposed Resolution No: 2023-60: Approval of December 2023 – 
November 2024 Property & General Liability Insurance 

4.1  Action Item:

Planning & Operations Committee (Blake Ethridge)
Action Item: 

5  Proposed Motion: Approval of OKI Board Appointment (Andy Aiello)
5.1  Action Item:

6  Proposed Motion: Approval of Agency Safety Plan (Mike Weil)
6.1  Action Item:
6.2  Safety Plan:

Consent Agenda: Procurement Matrix
7

 
Proposed Resolution No. 2023-61: Approval of Contract Award for 
Enterprise Backup System

7.1  Action Item:

Page 1 of 66



8
 
Proposed Resolution No. 2023-62: Approval of Contract Award for Bus 
Stop Maintenance

8.1  Action Item:

9
 
Proposed Resolution No. 2023-63: Approval of Contract Award for Fleet 
Card Program

9.1  Action Item:

Briefing Items:
10  Financial Results as of October 31, 2023 (Andy Aiello)
11  Fuel Hedging Report (Kevin Ruth)
12  Metro on the Move (Darryl Haley)

Other Items:
New Business: 

13  Executive Session:
“Section 121.22(G)(3) Conferences with an attorney for the public body 
concerning disputes involving the public body that are the subject of 
pending or imminent court action…”
Adjournment
The next regular meeting of the SORTA Board of Trustees is scheduled 
for
Tuesday, December 12th, 2023, at 6:00 p.m.

Page 2 of 66



SORTA BOARD OF TRUSTEES
SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY

SORTA/METRO AT HUNTINGTON CENTER 
SORTA BOARD ROOM-6th FLOOR 

525 VINE STREET, CINCINNATI OHIO 45202

MINUTES OF: Regular Meeting of the SORTA Board of Trustees

DATE: Tuesday, October 24th 2023, 6:00 p.m.

BOARD MEMBERS 
PRESENT:

Jay Bedi, Alyson Beridon, Tony Brice, Blake Ethridge, Rod Hinton, Kreg Keesee, Gwen Robinson, KZ 
Smith and Sonya Taylor

BOARD MEMBERS 
ABSENT:

Chelsea Clark, Dan Driehaus, Trent Emeneker, Allen Freeman, Robert Harris, Pete Metz and Sara 
Sheets 

STAFF MEMBERS: Andy Aiello, John Edmondson, Derek Flint, Patrick Giblin, Darryl Haley, Adriene Hairston, James 
Hubbard, Brandy Bret Isaac, Jones, Natalie Krusling, Tenecia Le’Flore, Troy Miller, Jeff Mundstock, 
Jason Roe, Khaled Shammout, Bill Spraul, Mike Weil and August Schweitzer

LEGAL COUNSEL: N/A

GUEST/PUBLIC
PRESENT:

Barbara Wolf

CALL TO ORDER

Mr. Keesee SORTA Board Chair, called the meeting to order.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

The Pledge of Allegiance was recited.

CEO STAR AWARD: DEREK FLINT

Queensgate operator Derek Flint was present with a CEO star award for ensuring a toddler’s safety on September 12, 2023.

CEO STAR AWARD: MIKE WEIL AND BRET ISAAC

Mike Weil, Senior Director of Security and Bret Isaac, Security Manager were presented with CEO star awards for the recent assistance 
they gave to the Cincinnati police department.  Their quick thinking and conscientious actions were instrumental in the apprehention of 
dangerous, violent criminal.

PUBLIC COMMENTS

None. 

CHAIRMAN UPDATE

None.

APPROVAL OF SEPTEMBER 26TH, 2023 BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Mr. Keesee made a motion that the minutes from the September 26th, 2023, board meeting be approved as previously mailed and Ms. 
Robinson seconded the motion. 

By voice vote, the SORTA Board approved the minutes.

FINANCE COMMITTEE

Ms. Taylor reported on the Finance Committee meeting held on October 17th 2023, and there were items(s) to present for Board Approval.

PLANNING AND OPERATIONS COMMITTEE

Mr. Ethridge reported on the Planning and Operations Committee meeting held on October 17th 2023, and there were items(s) to present 
for Board Approval.

PROPOSED MOTION: CONTRACT MODIFICATION FOR SS81-2022 FOR DINSMORE LEGAL SERVICES – DINSMORE, LLP.

Mr. Keesse moved for adoption and Mr. Hinton seconded the motion.  The contract modification approves a 1-year contract with 
Dinsmore & Shohl, LLC at an additional cost of $180,000 bringing the total cost to $430,000 for legal services.

By roll call, the SORTA Board approved the motion.

Page 3 of 66



SORTA Board of Trustees September 26th, 2023

2

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 2023-49: APPROVAL OF CONTRACT AWARD FOR QUEENSGATE FACILITY COLUMN REPAIRS

Mr. Keesse moved for adoption and Mr. Hinton seconded the motion.  This resolution approves a three (1) year contract with John Cecil 
Construction, LLC. for facility column repairs, at a total cost not to exceed $211,546. 

By roll call, the Board approved the resolution.

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 2023-50: APPROVAL OF CONTRACT AWARD FOR PRE-EMPLOYMENT BACKGROUND CHECK 
SERVICES

Mr. Keesse moved for adoption and Mr. Hinton seconded the motion.  This resolution approves a three (5) year contract with ClearStar, 
Inc. for pre-employment background checks, at a total cost not to exceed $450,168. 

By roll call, the Board approved the resolution.

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 2023-51: APPROVAL OF CONTRACT AWARD FOR PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT REPLACEMENT AT 
QUEENSGATE AND BOND HILL

Mr. Keesse moved for adoption and Mr. Hinton seconded the motion.  This resolution approves a three (1) year contract with Security 
101 for new facilities public announcement system, at a total cost not to exceed $358,800. 

By roll call, the Board approved the resolution.

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 2023-52: APPROVAL OF CONRACT AWARD FOR SERVICE QUALITY MONITORING

Mr. Keesse moved for adoption and Mr. Hinton seconded the motion.  This resolution approves a three (3) year contract with C 
Robinson Associates, Inc. for service quality monitoring, at a total cost not to exceed $174,750. 

By roll call, the Board approved the resolution.

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 2023-53: APPROVAL OF CONTRACT AWARD FOR BUS PUSHER VEHICLES

Mr. Keesse moved for adoption and Mr. Hinton seconded the motion.  This resolution approves a three (4) year contract with Kirk’s 
Automotive, Inc. for bus pusher vehicles, at a total cost not to exceed $239,345. 

By roll call, the Board approved the resolution.

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 2023-54: APPROVAL OF CONTRACT AWARD FOR ONBOARD CUSTOMER SURVEY

Mr. Keesse moved for adoption and Mr. Hinton seconded the motion.  This resolution approves a three (9 month) contract with C 
Robinson Associates, Inc. for onboard customer survey, at an additional cost of $30,000 bringing the total cost not to exceed $118,400. 

By roll call, the Board approved the resolution.

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 2023-55: APPROVAL OF CONTRACT AWARD FOR ELECTRICAL SERVICES JOB ORDER CONTRACT

Mr. Keesse moved for adoption and Mr. Hinton seconded the motion This resolution approves a three (3) year contract with Cincy 
Electrical Solutions, LLC. for electrical services, at a total cost not to exceed $2,573,206.

By roll call, the Board approved the resolution.

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 2023-56: APPROVAL OF VEHICLE DIGITAL DISPLAY SIGNS

Mr. Keesse moved for adoption and Mr. Hinton seconded the motion.  This resolution approves a three (3) year contract with Message 
Point Media for vehicle digital display signs, at a total cost not to exceed $3,579,230. 

By roll call, the Board approved the resolution.

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 2023-57: APPROVAL OF CONTRACT AWARD FOR STREET SWEEPER SERVICE VEHICLE

Mr. Keesse moved for adoption and Mr. Hinton seconded the motion.  This resolution approves a contract with TYMCO Inc. for a street 
sweeper service vehicle, at a total cost not to exceed $137,084. 

By roll call, the Board approved the resolution.

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 2023-58: APPROVAL OF CONTRACT AWARD FOR RADIO TOWER LEASE

Mr. Keesse moved for adoption and Mr. Hinton seconded the motion.  This resolution approves a three (25) year contract with Crown 
Castle International for a radio tower lease, at a total cost not to exceed $270,000. 

By roll call, the Board approved the resolution.

EMPLOYEE RELATIONS COMMITTEE

Ms. Robinson reported on the Employee Relations Committee meeting held on October 17th 2023, and there were items(s) to present for 
Board Approval.

Page 4 of 66



SORTA Board of Trustees September 26th, 2023

3

PARATRANSIT COORDINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Keesee reported on the Paratransit Coordination Committee meeting held on October 19th 2023, and there were items(s) to present 
for Board Approval.

LABOR COMMITTEE

Mr. Keesee reported on the Labor Committee meeting held on October 19th 2023, and there were items(s) to present for Board Approval.

FINANCIAL REPORTS AS OF SETPEMBER 30ST, 2023

Mr. Aiello presented the September financial results. Total revenues were $24.1 million, which was favorable to budget by $3.3 million. 
Total expenses were $11.8 million, which is favorable to budget by $954,000. Surplus/Deficit was $12.4 million, which was favorable to 
budget by $5.2 million.  Ridership was 1.206 million, which is favorable to budget by 224 thousand.  Mr. Aiello then reviewed the 
contributing factors to these variances.

The SORTA Board accepted the report as presented.

METRO ON THE MOVE REPORT

Mr. Haley presented the Metro on the Move report. His report included: The Survey Says, Operator Recruitment Up, Metro Awarded 
ODOT Grant, Free Rides on Election Day, Honors & Recognitions and Driving What Matters.   He then concluded his report. 

NEW BUSNIESS

N/A

ADJOURNMENT

The meeting adjourned at 6:48 p.m.

NEXT MEETING

The next regular meeting of the SORTA Board of Trustees has been scheduled for 
November 14th, 2023, at 6:00 P.M.

the SORTA/Metro Board Room, at 525 Vine Street, Cincinnati, Ohio.

APPROVED:                           ATTESTED:

Kreg Keesee
Chair, SORTA Board

                           Darryl Haley
                           CEO/General Manager/Secretary-Treasurer

Page 5 of 66



Page 6 of 66



Page 7 of 66



 
 
 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-59 
  

APPROVAL OF REVISED 2023 PROPERTY & GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE COVERAGES 
 

WHEREAS: 
  
1. SORTA currently has a program in place for liability insurance covering: general liability, 

automobile liability, public officials’ liability, cyber liability, and crime. 
 

2. In an effort to mitigate identified risks, SORTA requires property insurance with coverage for direct 
physical loss or damage. 

 
3. Previously SORTA staff recommended a one (1) year contract with the Ohio Transit Risk Pool 

(OTRP) at a cost not to exceed $1,093,304.70 for its liability insurance program covering: General Liability, 
Automotive Liability, Public Officials Liability, Cyber Liability and Crime.  In addition, SORTA staff recommended a 
one (1) year policy with Ohio Transit Risk Pool (OTRP) at a cost not to exceed $562,881 for property insurance. 

 
4. SORTA staff is recommending a modification to Contract No. 30-3023 with OTRP, increasing the 

total value from $1,093,304.70 for its liability insurance program covering: General Liability, Automotive Liability, 
Public Officials Liability, Cyber Liability and Crime to $1,593,304.70, which is an increase of $500,000.  $562,881 was 
previously approved for property insurance by the SORTA board.  The grand total would be $2,206,185.72. 

 
5. While the $1,706,185.72 was approved previously and budgeted with local funds, the additional 

$500,000 that SORTA is requesting will be funded with local unbudgeted operating expenses. 
 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 
  
6. The Board authorizes the CEO/General Manager/Secretary-Treasurer or the Senior Director of 

Procurement to execute a revised contract with Ohio Transit Risk Pool (OTRP) on behalf of SORTA at a total cost of 
$1,593.304.70 and $562,881 for property insurance. 
 

*************** 
 
    
    
MOVED BY: Blake Ethridge  SECOND BY: Pete Metz 
    
VOTE Aye: Mr. Driehaus, Mr. Ethridge, Mr. Harris, Mr. Hinton, Mr. Keesee, Mr. Metz, Ms. Robinson, Ms. 

Sheets and KZ Smith 
 
          Nay: 

 
None 
 

     Abstain:  
 

None 

ABSENT AT THE   
TIME:  Ms. Clark, Ms. Beridon, and Ms. Taylor 
 
PRESENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS: 
 

 
   
  
Mr. Ememeker  

  

ABSENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS AT 
THE TIME:  Mr. Bedi and Mr. Freeman  
    
APPROVED: November 14th, 2023   

 
 

Attachments: 
Action Item 

 



BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION ITEM

DATE: November 7, 2023

FROM: Julia Beard, Director of Accounting

PROJECT NO.: 30-2023 Property & General Liability Insurance 2023 Coverages – Ohio Transit Risk
    Pool (OTRP)

REQUEST: Contract Modification

BACKGROUND

SORTA has a program in place for liability insurance covering: general liability, automobile liability, public 
officials’ liability, cyber liability, and crime with OTRP.  This policy is effective December 1, 2022 – 
November 30, 2023.  As part of this coverage OTRP has also been settling claims for SORTA for current 
and prior years that are still unresolved. 

Insurance coverage has been provided by Ohio Transit Risk Pool for the past year. 

BUSINESS PURPOSE

OTRP has been working diligently to settle any outstanding claims from current and prior years.  They 
have been able to settle as of August 31, 2023, over $566,000 worth of claims which exceeds our 
budgeted amount for 2023.  Additional funding is needed to fund these settlements for part of third 
quarter (June – August 2023) and all of the fourth quarter (September – November 2023).

PROJECT FINANCING

The not-to-exceed amount for the claims settlements for this policy was approved at $480,000, a 
budgeted local operating expense.  The modification amount of $500,000 is an unbudgeted local 
operating expense.  This modification would cover actual claims for the third quarter and projected claims 
for the fourth quarter. 

PROJECT PROCUREMENT

Section 306.43 of the Ohio revised Code authorizes SORTA to contract for the provision of goods and 
services. 

PROJECT DIVERSITY

As this is a modification to an existing contract for insurance coverage, no vendor diversity analysis has 
been performed and no goal established.  

RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION

Staff recommends the Board of Trustees approve a resolution authorizing the CEO/General 
manager/Secretary-Treasurer or the Senior Director of Procurement to execute a modification to Contract 
No. 30-2023 on behalf of SORTA with OTRP, increasing the total not to exceed value from $1,706,185.72 
to $2,206,185.72, an increase of $500,000.

Page 9 of 66



 
 
 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-60 
  

APPROVAL OF 2024 PROPERTY & GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE COVERAGES 
WHEREAS: 
  
1. SORTA currently has a program in place for liability insurance covering: general liability, 

automotive liability, public officials’ liability, cyber liability and crime. 
 

2. In an effort to mitigate identified risks, SORTA requires property insurance with coverage for direct 
physical loss or damage. 

 
3. SORTA staff recommends a one (1) year contract with Ohio Transit Risk Pool (OTRP) at a cost not 

to exceed $1,283,986.69 for its liability insurance program covering: General Liability, Automotive Liability, Public 
Officials Liability, Cyber Liability and Crime.  In addition, SORTA staff recommends a one (1) year policy with Ohio 
Transit Risk Pook (OTRP) at a cost not to exceed $483,345 for property insurance and a one (1) year shock loss 
funding program at a cost not to exceed $53,605,96 bringing the total to $1,820,937.65. 

 
4. The expenditures have been budgeted for 2024 and will be funded with local funds. 

 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 
  
5. The Board authorizes the CEO/General Manager/Secretary-Treasurer or the Senior Director of 

Procurement to issue purchase orders for the liability insurance program on behalf of SORTA at a total cost not to 
exceed $1,283,986.69, $483,345 for property insurance and $53,605.96 for shock loss funding with the total cost not 
to exceed $1,820,937.69. 
 

*************** 
 
    
    
MOVED BY: Blake Ethridge  SECOND BY: Pete Metz 
    
VOTE Aye: Mr. Driehaus, Mr. Ethridge, Mr. Harris, Mr. Hinton, Mr. Keesee, Mr. Metz, Ms. Robinson, Ms. 

Sheets and KZ Smith 
 
          Nay: 

 
None 
 

     Abstain:  
 

None 

ABSENT AT THE   
TIME:  Ms. Clark, Ms. Beridon, and Ms. Taylor 
 
PRESENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS: 
 

 
   
  
Mr. Ememeker  

  

ABSENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS AT 
THE TIME:  Mr. Bedi and Mr. Freeman  
    
APPROVED: November 14th, 2023   

 
 

 
 

 

Attachments: 
Action Item 

 



Page 11 of 66



Page 12 of 66



Page 13 of 66



Page 14 of 66



 
 
 
 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 

MOTION 
 
 

APPROVAL OF APPOINTMENT TO OKI BOARD 
 

 
I move that Darryl Haley be appointed as SORTA’s representative to the OKI Board of Trustees and 
Khaled Shammout as the alternate. 

*************** 
 
    
    
MOVED BY: Blake Ethridge  SECOND BY: Pete Metz 
    
VOTE Aye: Mr. Driehaus, Mr. Ethridge, Mr. Harris, Mr. Hinton, Mr. Keesee, Mr. Metz, Ms. Robinson, Ms. Sheets and 

KZ Smith 
 
          Nay: 

 
None 
 

     Abstain:  
 

None 

ABSENT AT THE   
TIME:  Ms. Clark, Ms. Beridon, and Ms. Taylor 
 
PRESENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS: 
 

 
   
  
Mr. Ememeker  

  

ABSENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS AT 
THE TIME:  Mr. Bedi and Mr. Freeman  
    
APPROVED: November 14th, 2023   
 
 
 
 
       
 
 

Attachments: 
Action Item 



BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION ITEM

DATE: November 2023
FROM: Andy Aiello, Chief of Staff

PROJECT NO.:
REQUEST: Approval of Appointment to OKI Board

BACKGROUND 

The Ohio-Kentucky-Indiana Regional Council of Governments (OKI) is a council of local governments, 
businesses and community groups that develop strategies to improve the quality of life and the economic 
vitality in the region. 

BUSINESS PURPOSE

The term of SORTA’s current representative on the Ohio-Kentucky-Indiana Regional Council of 
Government (OKI)’s Board of Directors for 2023 expire upon convening the Board of Directors of the 
Council in January 2024.

The OKI Articles of Agreement require that persons representing counties, cities, townships, or planning 
agencies must be selected by the governing body of that organization.

Representatives on the OKI Board of Directors is not a commitment to fund OKI.  The purpose of location 
representation on OKI is to assure that work on behalf of the region is responsive to local needs.

PROJECT FINANCING

None

PROJECT PROCUREMENT

None

PROJECT DIVERSITY

None

RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION  

Approval of a motion that appoints Darryl Haley as SORTA’s representative to the OKI Board of Trustees 
and Khaled Shammout as the alternate.

Page 16 of 66



 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 
MOTION 

 
 

APPROVAL OF AGENCY SAFETY PLAN  
 

I move that the SORTA Board approve the Agency Safety Plan.   

*************** 

    

    

MOVED BY: Blake Ethridge  SECOND BY: Pete Metz 

    

VOTE Aye: Mr. Driehaus, Mr. Ethridge, Mr. Harris, Mr. Hinton, Mr. Keesee, Mr. Metz, Ms. Robinson, Ms. 
Sheets and KZ Smith 

 

          Nay: 

 

None 

 

     Abstain:  

 

None 

ABSENT AT THE   
TIME:  Ms. Clark, Ms. Beridon, and Ms. Taylor 

 

PRESENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS: 

 

 

   

  

Mr. Ememeker  

  

ABSENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS AT 
THE TIME:  Mr. Bedi and Mr. Freeman  

    

APPROVED: November 14th, 2023   

 
 

Attachments: 
Action Item 
Safety Plan 



Page 19 of 66



Page 20 of 66



Page 21 of 66



Page 22 of 66



Page 23 of 66



Page 24 of 66



Page 25 of 66



Page 26 of 66



Page 27 of 66



Page 28 of 66



Page 29 of 66



Page 30 of 66



Page 31 of 66



Page 32 of 66



Page 33 of 66



Page 34 of 66



Page 35 of 66



Page 36 of 66



Page 37 of 66



Page 38 of 66



Page 39 of 66



Page 40 of 66



Page 41 of 66



Page 42 of 66



Page 43 of 66



Page 44 of 66



Page 45 of 66



Page 46 of 66



Project Method Vendor Award Term Funding
132-2023

Enterprise Backup System
Request for Proposals (RFP) Altafiber/CBTS $380,400 5 years

Dec 2023 – Nov 2028
Budgeted Local Operating

138-2023
Bus Stop Maintenance

Request for Proposals (RFP) BrightView Landscape 
Services, Inc.

$3,159,473 5 years
Dec 2023 – Nov 2028

Budgeted Local Operating

146-2023-SS
Fleet Card Program

Sole Source Award (SS) / State 
of Ohio Contract

US Bank National Association $621,380 5 years
Dec 2023 – Nov 2028

Budgeted Local Operating

Total Awards for Month $4,160,853 YTD Diversity Spend
$8.4 M

Page 47 of 66



BOARD OF TRUSTEES
SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-61
 

APPROVAL OF CONTRACT NO. 132-2023 FOR ENTERPRISE BACKUP SOLUTION

WHEREAS:
 
1. Metro has multiple enterprise-level systems that operate in tandem with one another that are critical 

to daily operations.

2. Metro has a duty to ensure that the agency data is maintained in accordance with records retention 
policies and data security best practices.

3. To ensure a continuity of operations, Metro requires a solution that will backup, restore and 
replicate functions for all systems to include protecting virtual and physical servers along with SQL databases.

4. Staff recommends the SORTA Board Trustees approve a (5 year) contract with Altafiber/CBTS, in 
the amount of $380,400. 

5. This project will be funded with budgeted local operating funds.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:
 
6. The SORTA Board of Trustees approves a (5 year) contract with Altafiber/CBTS, at a total cost not 

to exceed $380,400.

7. The Board authorizes the CEO/General Manager/Secretary-Treasurer or the Senior Director of 
Procurement to execute a contract with Altafiber/CBTS on behalf of SORTA.

***************

MOVED BY: Blake Ethridge SECOND BY: Rod Hinton

VOTE Aye: Mr. Driehaus, Mr. Ethridge, Mr. Harris, Mr. Hinton, Mr. Keesee, Mr. Metz, Ms. Robinson, Ms. 
Sheets and KZ Smith

          Nay: None

     Abstain: None

ABSENT AT THE   
TIME: Ms. Clark, Ms. Beridon, and Ms. Taylor

PRESENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS:

  

Mr. Ememeker 

ABSENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS AT 
THE TIME: Mr. Bedi and Mr. Freeman 

APPROVED: November 14th, 2023

Attachments:
Action Item

Page 48 of 66



BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION ITEM

DATE: November 7, 2023
FROM: John Edmondson, Sr. Director of Procurement

Patrick Giblin, Chief Information Officer
PROJECT NO.: 132-2023 Enterprise Backup Solution

REQUEST: Contract Award

BACKGROUND

Metro deploys multiple enterprise-level systems that operate often operate in tandem with one another.  
Each of these systems is critical to daily business operations.  In addition, Metro has a duty to ensure that 
all agency data is maintained in accordance with records retention policies and data security best 
practices.

BUSINESS PURPOSE

To ensure business continuity of operations, Metro requires a solution that performs backup, restore, and 
replication functions for all systems.  The backup must be capable of protecting and backing up virtual 
and physical servers along with SQL databases.  The system must also provide full server recovery along 
with file level restoration. 

PROJECT FINANCING

The approved budget for this project is $92,568 per year for 5 years (2024 – 2028) for a total of $462,840.  
The final cost of the project is $76,080 per year for 5 years for a total project cost of $380,400, which is 
favorable to budget by $82,440.

The project will be funded using local operating funds.  The operating expense for each year will be 
included in the annual budget review and approval process.

PROJECT PROCUREMENT

Given the variability of potential solutions, Procurement staff determined that a Request for Proposals 
(RFP) methodology was best.

In addition to publicly announcing the open solicitation via Metro’s e-procurement platform, staff sourced 
13 vendors known to be capable of providing the requirements of the solicitation and asked each to 
submit a response.  34 vendors downloaded solicitation materials and 7 submitted responses.

Each response was evaluated based on specific criteria described in the solicitation.  The results of the 
evaluation and the price proposal for each response is listed below:

Page 49 of 66



Metro received adequate competition in response to the solicitation; therefore no polling of non-
responding vendors was completed.

Based on the evaluation of all proposals, Altafiber/CBTS was determined to have proposed the solution 
most valuable to Metro.  Staff were able to negotiate a cost savings of $42,364 on this award.

The award will be a firm fixed price contract for a term of 5 years, ending on November 30, 2028.

PROJECT DIVERSITY

No vendor diversity goal was set for this project.  Staff determined that there are an insufficient number of 
certified XBE vendors capable of providing the requirements of the solicitation.  The NAICS codes 
analyzed were overly broad and encompass a wide variety of IT related functions.  In addition, the project 
does not have subcontracting opportunities. 

RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION

Staff recommends the Board of Trustees approve a resolution authorizing the CEO/General 
Manager/Secretary-Treasurer or the Senior Director of Procurement to execute Contract No. 132-2023, 
on behalf of Metro with Altafiber/CBTS, with a not to exceed value of $380,400.

Page 50 of 66



 
 
 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-62 
  

APPROVAL OF CONTRACT NO. 138-2023 FOR BUS STOP MAINTENANCE 
 

WHEREAS: 
  
1. Metro currently makes more than 3,700 bus stops throughout the country-wide service area. 

 
2. Bus stop amenities range from a sign attached to the a pole to a fully enclose shelter which 

includes a bench and trash receptacle. 
 
3. Each bus stop requires routine cleaning and maintenance. 
 
4. Staff recommends the SORTA Board Trustees approve a (5 year) contract with BrightView 

Landscape Services, Inc., in the amount of $3,159,473.  
 

5. This project will be funded with budgeted local operating funds. 
 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 
  
6. The SORTA Board of Trustees approves a (5 year) contract with BrightView Landscape Services, 

Inc., at a total cost not to exceed $3,159,473. 
 
7. The Board authorizes the CEO/General Manager/Secretary-Treasurer or the Senior Director of 

Procurement to execute a contract with BrightView Landscape Services, Inc. on behalf of SORTA. 
 

*************** 
 
    
    
MOVED BY: Blake Ethridge  SECOND BY: Rod Hinton 
    
VOTE Aye: Mr. Driehaus, Mr. Ethridge, Mr. Harris, Mr. Hinton, Mr. Keesee, Mr. Metz, Ms. Robinson, Ms. 

Sheets and KZ Smith 
 
          Nay: 

 
None 
 

     Abstain:  
 

None 

ABSENT AT THE   
TIME:  Ms. Clark, Ms. Beridon, and Ms. Taylor 
 
PRESENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS: 
 

 
   
  
Mr. Ememeker  

  

ABSENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS AT 
THE TIME:  Mr. Bedi and Mr. Freeman  
    
APPROVED: November 14th, 2023   

 
 

 

Attachments: 
Action Item 

 



BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION ITEM

DATE: November 7, 2023
FROM: John Edmondson, Sr. Director of Procurement

Jeff Mundstock, Director of Fleet & Facilities
Steve Anderson, Sr. Director of Transit Development & Innovation

PROJECT NO.: 138-2023 Bus Stop Maintenance
REQUEST: Contract Award

BACKGROUND

Metro currently makes more than 3,700 bus stops throughout the county-wide service area.  Stop 
amenities range from a simple sign attached to a pole to a fully enclosed shelter complete with bench and 
trash receptacle.  

BUSINESS PURPOSE

In order to improve services and the overall customer experience, each bus stop requires routine cleaning 
and maintenance.  

PROJECT FINANCING

This is the first contract of its kind for Metro, meaning limited information from which to complete a full 
cost estimate. Peer systems polled returned little data that could be used to inform the estimate.  In many 
instances, bus stop maintenance is a combination of in-house and outsourced services.  

As such, the approved budget for this project is $1,476,455 over 5 years, or approximately $295,000 per 
year.

The final contract award is $2,872,248, or approximately $575,000 per year, which is unfavorable to 
budget by $1,395,793.  The project will also include a 10% contingency of $287,225 for a total project 
cost of $3,159,473.

Each contract year will be included in the annual budget review and approval process.

The project will be funded with local operating funds.

PROJECT PROCUREMENT

Given the number of variable approaches to service delivery, reporting, etc., Procurement staff 
determined that a Request for Proposals (RFP) would be the most appropriate methodology.

Staff directly sourced 8 firms to be targeted for solicitation in addition to the open advertisement and 
broadcast on Metro’s e-procurement platform.  19 firms downloaded solicitation materials and 6 submitted 
responses.  Each proposal was evaluated on a combination of criteria including project approach, 
firm/staff qualifications, and inclusion of certified XBE subcontractors. The results of the evaluation and 
price proposals are in the tables below:

Page 52 of 66



The contract will be a firm fixed price contract with a 5-year term, expiring on October 31, 2028.

PROJECT DIVERSITY

Based on the number of prime vendors capable of performing the work, Metro did not set a required 
participation goal for this award. 

Staff communicated directly with more than 170 certified prime vendors requesting a response to the 
solicitation.  3 certified XBE firms submitted proposals.

The contract award does not include significant XBE participation (less than 1% of contract value) as the 
bulk of the work will be performed by employees of the vendor; however, ongoing negotiations with the 
successful vendor will include increasing the subcontracting work awarded to certified firms.

RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION

Staff recommends the Board of Trustees approve a resolution authorizing the CEO/General 
Manager/Secretary-Treasurer or the Senior Director of Procurement to execute Contract No. 138-2023, 
on behalf of Metro with BrightView Landscape Services, Inc., with a not to exceed value of $3,159,473.

Page 53 of 66



 
 
 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-63 
  

APPROVAL OF CONTRACT NO. 146-2023 FOR FUEL FLEET CARD PROGRAM 
 

WHEREAS: 
  
1. Metro currently operates 70 gasoline vehicles without an on-site fueling station. 

 
2. The 70 gasoline vehicles along with 20 diesel vehicles require gas fueling from local filling stations. 
 
3. A fleet fueling credit card is needed to capture data such as the employee making the transaction, 

the number of gallons consumed, odometer readings and other data to analyze fuel consumption patterns of each 
vehicle. 

 
4. Staff recommends the SORTA Board Trustees approve a (5 year) contract with US Bank National 

Association, in the amount of $621,380.  
 

5. This project will be funded with budgeted local operating funds. 
 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 
  
6. The SORTA Board of Trustees approves a (5 year) contract with US Bank National Association, at 

a total cost not to exceed $621,380. 
 
7. The Board authorizes the CEO/General Manager/Secretary-Treasurer or the Senior Director of 

Procurement to execute a contract with US Bank National Association on behalf of SORTA. 
 

*************** 
 
    
    
MOVED BY: Blake Ethridge  SECOND BY: Rod Hinton 
    
VOTE Aye: Mr. Driehaus, Mr. Ethridge, Mr. Harris, Mr. Hinton, Mr. Keesee, Mr. Metz, Ms. Robinson, Ms. 

Sheets and KZ Smith 
 
          Nay: 

 
None 
 

     Abstain:  
 

None 

ABSENT AT THE   
TIME:  Ms. Clark, Ms. Beridon, and Ms. Taylor 
 
PRESENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS: 
 

 
   
  
Mr. Ememeker  

  

ABSENT NON-
VOTING 
MEMBERS AT 
THE TIME:  Mr. Bedi and Mr. Freeman  
    
APPROVED: November 14th, 2023   

 
 

Attachments: 
Action Item 

 



BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION ITEM

DATE: November 7, 2023
FROM: John Edmondson, Sr. Director of Procurement

Jeff Mundstock, Director of Fleet & Facilities
PROJECT NO.: 146-2023 Fuel Fleet Card Program

REQUEST: Contract Award

BACKGROUND

Metro currently operates approximately 70 gasoline vehicles without an on-site fueling station.  These 
vehicles, along with approximately 20 diesel vehicles, require fueling from local filling stations.

BUSINESS PURPOSE

A fleet fueling program credit card is needed to capture appropriate data such as the employee making 
the transaction, the number of gallons consumed, odometer readings, and other data necessary to 
analyze fuel consumption patterns for each vehicle.

PROJECT FINANCING

The budget for this project is $124,276 per year for 5 years, for a total project budget of $621,380.  

The project will be funded as a local operating expense.  The operating expense for each year will be 
included in the annual budget review and approval process.

The contract is a blanket purchase order, allowing for the delivery of fuel (via local gas pumps) from 
multiple locations on multiple dates from multiple cardholders.  The total purchase order cost is $621,380, 
which is flat to budget.

PROJECT PROCUREMENT

The project was awarded from State of Ohio Contract No. CSP901222 as a sole source award.  The 
State of Ohio Division of Administrative Service conducted a competitive process before selecting the 
vendor.

The contract will be a blanket purchase order with a 5-year term, expiring on November 30, 2028.

PROJECT DIVERSITY

As this award is a sole source award issued to a State of Ohio selected vendor, there are no 
subcontracting opportunities and no vendor diversity goal established. 

RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION

Staff recommends the Board of Trustees approve a resolution authorizing the CEO/General 
Manager/Secretary-Treasurer or the Senior Director of Procurement to execute Contract No. 146-2023-
SS, on behalf of Metro with US Bank National Association, with a not to exceed value of $621,380.

Page 55 of 66



Southwest Ohio Regional Transit 
Authority
Financial Summary - October 2023 
Report Out Date – October 14, 2023

1

Page 56 of 66



Agenda – Financial Summary

• Statement of Operations for October ’23
- Revenue Chart
- Expense Chart
- Key Drivers
- Detail Profit & Loss Statement

• Investment Funds Reserve Summary

• Fuel Hedging Report

• Investment Balance Update ( separate attachment ) 

2

Page 57 of 66



STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

3

Page 58 of 66



OCTOBER 2023 – FARE REVENUE SOURCES
3 MONTH TREND – AUGUST 2023 THRU OCTOBER 2023
In Thousands

4

Note:  Number of Weekdays within 
each corresponding month as follows:      
Aug 23, Sep 22, Oct 22

Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23

Page 59 of 66



OCTOBER 2023 – OPERATING EXPENSE SOURCES
3 MONTH TREND – AUGUST 2023 THRU OCTOBER 2023
In Thousands

5

Page 60 of 66



Profit & Loss – Summary / Key Drivers
Summary

- Total Revenue         $13.4M - favorable to Budget $0.9M  
- Total Expense          $12.6M - favorable to Budget $600k or 4.5% 
- Surplus / ( Deficit ) $0.8M - favorable to Budget $1.5M  
- Note: Ridership total is 1,240k – favorable to Budget 12k or 1.0%  

Revenue

- Total Operating Revenue $1.8M - favorable to Budget $223k or 14.1%; Root Cause: Increase in CPS ridership  
- Non-Transportation $925k - favorable to Budget $821k or 789.4%.  Root Cause: Investment portfolio income higher than projected  
- County Sales Tax $9.5M – unfavorable to Budget ($128k) or (1.3%).  Root Cause: July receipts lower Budget
- Federal Grants $1.2M, which is on budget
  

Expense

- Wages & Benefits $9.2M - favorable $71k or 0.8%  
- Fuel and Lubricants $626k - favorable $80k or 11.3% to Budget                       
- Parts & Supplies $853k - unfavorable ($121k) to Budget or (16.5%).  Root Cause: Rev vehicle parts unfavorable to Budget ($105k)
- All Other $1.9M – favorable Budget $570k.  Root Cause: Outside services of $723k or 87.7%

6

Page 61 of 66



7

Page 62 of 66



Investment Funds Reserve Summary

6

Page 63 of 66



Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority
Diesel Fuel Hedging Report

As of October 31, 2023

YTD @ Oct ME YTD @ Jul ME
Total Per Gallon Total Per Gallon

Fuel Purchased $6,769,730 $2.90 $4,395,657 $2.77

Hedging Gains / (Losses) 749,958 $0.32 $236,253 $0.15

Net Fuel Cost 6,019,772 $2.58 $4,159,404 $2.62

Budget 6,212,609 $2.55 $4,294,737 $2.54

Variance Favorable / (Unfavorable) $192,837 3.1% $135,333 3.2%

Gallons Hedged Average Cost Unrealized
Future Hedges: Total Percent per Gallon Gain/(Loss)

2023 378,000 76% $2.25 $371,531

2024 2,604,000 90% $2.49 $522,227

$893,758

Hedging Policy Policy Hedged Prior Qtr Hedged
0 - 12 Months 90% 89% 88%
13 - 24 Months 90% 20% 24%
25 - 36 Months 50% 0% 0%

 Historical Performance
Fuel Realized 

Purchased Gain / (Loss) Net Budget Variance

2018 6,325,084 845,763 5,479,321 5,229,423 (249,898)

2019 5,534,869 150,141 5,384,728 5,355,630 (29,098)

2020 2,913,009 (1,638,748) 4,551,757 5,289,298 737,541

2021 5,348,585 901,598 4,446,987 4,799,366 352,379

2022 6,526,165 1,948,380 4,577,785 4,937,186 359,401

2023YTD 6,769,730 $749,958 6,019,772 6,212,609 192,837

Diesel Fuel for Board Quarterly Format 2023 Oct  11/10/2023

Page 64 of 66



November 2023

The cool air of fall provides us with a welcome reminder to pause and reflect on the many 
blessings in our lives. 

Here at Metro we have had an incredible year. We celebrated 50 years of service to our 
community, launched a brand new type of service with MetroNow!, invested more than $30 
million in transit infrastructure projects in our community, and distributed more than a half million 
dollars to 80 social service and charitable non-profit organizations in our community through the 
Everybody Rides Metro program.

We’ve celebrated our team members for their excellence in service to our community, from our 
Two Million Mile Award recipients with 30+ years of accident-free driving to our CLIMB Award 
recipient for strengthening our DBE business and vendor partnerships – we have much to be 
proud of! 

The impact of our efforts are being felt across the region. Our ridership continues to outpace the 
national average and we are one of only a few transit systems who have exceeded our pre-
pandemic ridership. Our strategies and efforts are being watched not only across the country, 
but internationally as well.

Ultimately, this means more people in our region are getting to better paying jobs, medical 
appointments, school and other quality of life destinations; communities are becoming safer and 
more ADA accessible with improvements to streets, sidewalks and bridges and Greater 
Cincinnati is becoming a more connected destination to live, work and play. And, we are just 
getting started. 

Shop & Ride with Metro: All Metro fixed routes, Access and MetroNow! service will be FREE 
to ride on Black Friday, Nov. 24. We’re encouraging the community to give our service a try and 
discover just how easy it is to get around to their favorite shopping destinations on Metro this 
holiday season. No need to worry about crowded parking lots or congested roads as you check 
off your holiday gift list. 

Page 65 of 66



Winter service change: Effective Sunday, Dec. 3, Metro’s winter service change will go into 
effect with two new crosstown routes, the Rt. 22 Glenway Transit Center – Madisonville 
Crosstown and the Rt. 36 Price Hill – Norwood Crosstown which will operate 7 days a week. 
The Rt. 5 Oakley-Sharonville Crosstown has been realigned to serve Summit Park and 
residences and retail in the Blue Ash community. The Rt. 24 Anderson-Uptown has been 
extended to serve the Northside Transit Center and will provide faster connections from the 
Eastside of town to the Northwest areas of the county. The Rt. 67 Kemper Crosstown has been 
realigned to serve the Sharonville Convention Center and hotel district. 

Engaging our elected officials: Last month, we presented updates to Hamilton County 
Commissioners on the impact of the Transit Infrastructure Fund in neighborhoods throughout 
the county with before and after photos of completed projects. Yesterday, we presented before 
Cincinnati’s City Council on the success of the Reinventing Metro plan thus far, including 
MetroNow!, BRT and Zero emission vehicles. We were also pleased to have State 
Representative Sedrick Denson and Joyce Powdrill, Southwest Regional Director for U.S. 
Senator Sherrod Brown, join us for a ride along on the new MetroNow! service this past month.

As we prepare for the holidays, we are grateful for the dedication each of you bring as board 
trustees on our journey towards building the best possible public transit system for our region. 

We wish each of you a very joyous and relaxing Thanksgiving holiday with family and friends. 

Thank you,

Darryl Haley
CEO/General Manager/Secretary-Treasurer 

Page 66 of 66


	Agenda
	SORTA BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING
	TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 14TH, 2023 – 9:00 A.M
	SORTA BOARD ROOM 6th FLOOR
	525 VINE STREET, 
	CINCINNATI, OHIO, 45202 
	General Items:
	Call to order  
	Pledge of Allegiance
	Hearings from citizens 
	Chairman Update 
	Action Items:  
	1 Approval of Board Minutes: October 24th, 2023
	Finance Committee (Sonja Taylor) 
	Action Items: 
	2 Investment of Funds Reports (Andy Aiello)
	3 Proposed Resolution No: 2023-59: Approval of Revised 2023 Property & General Liability Insurance Coverages 
	3.1 Action Item:

	4 Proposed Resolution No: 2023-60: Approval of December 2023 – November 2024 Property & General Liability Insurance 
	4.1 Action Item:

	Planning & Operations Committee (Blake Ethridge)
	Action Item: 
	5 Proposed Motion: Approval of OKI Board Appointment (Andy Aiello)
	5.1 Action Item:

	6 Proposed Motion: Approval of Agency Safety Plan (Mike Weil)
	6.1 Action Item:
	6.2 Safety Plan:

	Consent Agenda: Procurement Matrix
	7 Proposed Resolution No. 2023-61: Approval of Contract Award for Enterprise Backup System
	7.1 Action Item:

	8 Proposed Resolution No. 2023-62: Approval of Contract Award for Bus Stop Maintenance
	8.1 Action Item:

	9 Proposed Resolution No. 2023-63: Approval of Contract Award for Fleet Card Program
	9.1 Action Item:

	Briefing Items:
	10 Financial Results as of October 31, 2023 (Andy Aiello)
	11 Fuel Hedging Report (Kevin Ruth)
	12 Metro on the Move (Darryl Haley)
	Other Items:
	New Business: 
	13 Executive Session:
	“Section 121.22(G)(3) Conferences with an attorney for the public body concerning disputes involving the public body that are the subject of pending or imminent court action…”
	Adjournment
	The next regular meeting of the SORTA Board of Trustees is scheduled for
	Tuesday, December 12th, 2023, at 6:00 p.m.�
	ADPEBEB.tmp
	BOARD OF TRUSTEES
	SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY





